
Grand Prairie PFC – February 09, 2023  Page 1 of 1 

 

 

GRAND PRAIRIE PFC 

300 W. MAIN ST., CITY HALL EAST CONFERENCE ROOM D 

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 09, 2023 AT 2:00 PM 

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Adopt Organizational Meeting Minutes of Grand Prairie PFC, a Public Facility Corporation 

 

a. Certificate of Formation 

b. Corporate Records 

c. Payment of Organization Fee 

d. Adoption of Bylaws 

e. Election of Officers 

f. Licenses, EIN, Tax Permits and Rulings 

g. Banking Authority 

h. Ratification of Prior Acts; General Authority 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

Citizens may speak during Citizen Comments for up to five minutes on any item not on the agenda by 

completing and submitting a speaker card. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The Grand Prairie City Hall is accessible to people with disabilities. If you need assistance in 

participating in this meeting due to a disability as defined under the ADA, please call 972-237-8040 or 

email (lrbrooks@gptx.org) at least three (3) business days prior to the scheduled meeting to request an 

accommodation. 

Certification 

In accordance with Chapter 551, Subchapter C of the Government Code, V.T.C.A, the Grand Prairie PFC 

agenda was prepared and posted February 6, 2023. 

 
Lolette Brooks, Executive Assistant 

 

1



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 01/31/2023 

PRESENTER: Esther Coleman, Director of Grand Prairie Housing and Neighborhood 

Services 

Mattye Jones, Attorney Coats and Rose 

TITLE: Adopt Organizational Meeting Minutes of Grand Prairie PFC, a Public 

Facility Corporation 

a. Certificate of Formation 

b. Corporate Records 

c. Payment of Organization Fee 

d. Adoption of Bylaws 

e. Election of Officers 

f. Licenses, EIN, Tax Permits and Rulings 

g. Banking Authority 

h. Ratification of Prior Acts; General Authority 

REVIEWING 

COMMITTEE: 

 

  

 

2

Item 1.



1 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

 

MINUTES OF THE ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING 

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF   

GRAND PRAIRIE PFC 

 

 On January__, 2023 at approximately __:__ _.m., a meeting of GRAND PRARIE PFC, a 

Texas non-profit corporation (the “Corporation”) was held.   

 

The directors present were: 

 

Name Address 

William A. Hills  300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053 

Esther Coleman 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053 

Greg Giessner 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053 

John Lopez 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053 

Thao Vo 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053 

 

 __________________________ acted as chairman of the meeting and 

____________________acted as secretary of the meeting.  The Chairman called the meeting to 

order and announced that a quorum was present. 

 

Certification of Formation 

 

 WHEREAS the Certificate of Formation of the Corporation was filed with the Secretary 

of State of the State of Texas on September 11, 2020; now, therefore, be it: 

 

 RESOLVED, that the Certificate of Formation be inserted into the minute book of the 

Corporation. 

 

Corporate Records 

 

 RESOLVED, that the Corporation shall maintain, as part of its corporate records, a 

minute book that shall include, but that shall not be limited to, records of the Corporation’s 

Certificate of Formation and amendments thereto, its bylaws and amendments thereto, minutes 

of all meetings of its directors, the time and the place of each such meeting, whether the meeting 

was regular or special, the manner in which the meeting was authorized, the notice given, the 

names of those present or represented at the meeting and the proceedings of each meeting; 

 

 RESOLVED FURTHER, that the secretary of the Corporation is directed to procure such 

a minute book and such other books and records as may be required by the Corporation. 

 

Payment of Organization Fee 

 

3

Item 1.



2 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

 RESOLVED, that the treasurer is hereby authorized to pay all fees and expenses incident 

to and necessary for the organization of the Corporation. 

 

Adoption of Bylaws 

 

 RESOLVED, that the form of bylaws presented to the directors for review and attached 

hereto as Exhibit “A” be, and it hereby is, approved and adopted as the Bylaws of the 

Corporation; 

 

 RESOLVED FURTHER, that the secretary of the Corporation is directed to certify a 

copy of these Bylaws and insert it in the minute book of the Corporation and is further ordered to 

certify a copy of these Bylaws and maintain it in the principal office of the Corporation, open for 

inspection by the shareholders at all reasonable times during office hours. 

 

Election of Officers 

 

 RESOLVED, that the following named persons be, and they hereby are, elected to the 

offices set opposite their respective names, to serve until their successors are duly elected and 

qualified: 

 

  President        

 

  Vice President       

 

  Secretary       

 

  Treasurer       

 

 RESOLVED FURTHER, that these officers are empowered to carry out the day-to-day 

business of the Corporation, subject to the direction and control of the board of directors. 

 

Licenses, EIN, Tax Permits and Rulings 

 

 RESOLVED, that the officers of the Corporation be, and they hereby are, authorized and 

directed to obtain, in the name of the Corporation, such licenses, EIN, tax permits and rulings as 

may be required by any applicable federal, state, county or municipal governmental statute, 

ordinance or regulation for the conduct of the non-profit business of the Corporation within any 

jurisdiction in which the Corporation shall have qualified to do business. 

 

Banking Authority 

 

 RESOLVED, that the secretary of the Corporation be, and hereby is, authorized and 

directed to execute and deliver such form resolutions of any state or national banking institution 

that the officers of the Corporation may select (the “Bank”), as may be required to establish 

4

Item 1.



3 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

whatever checking accounts and borrowing accounts the treasurer of the Corporation shall deem 

necessary and appropriate; 

 

 RESOLVED FURTHER, that the secretary of the Corporation be, and hereby is, 

authorized to certify to the Bank that these resolutions have been duly adopted and to verify to 

the Bank the names and specimen signatures of the officers authorized hereby to sign, and if and 

when any new officer is elected, to verify the fact of the change and the name and specimen 

signature of the new officer; 

 

 RESOLVED FURTHER, that this resolution and the form resolutions to which it is 

applicable shall continue in full force and effect until official written notice of the rescission 

thereof by the board of directors of the Corporation has been given to the Bank. 

 

Ratification of Prior Acts; General Authority 

 

 RESOLVED, that all acts, transactions, or agreements undertaken prior hereto by any of 

the officers or representatives of the Corporation in connection with the foregoing matters and 

the incorporation of the Corporation are hereby ratified and confirmed as the valid actions of the 

Corporation, effective as of the date such actions were taken. 

 

 RESOLVED, that the officers and directors of the Corporation be, and they hereby are, 

authorized to do any and all acts and things and to execute any and all agreements, consents and 

documents as in their opinion, or in the opinion of counsel to the Corporation, may be necessary 

or appropriate in order to carry out the purposes and intent of any of the foregoing resolutions. 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows] 

 

5

Item 1.



4 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

 ADOPTED by the Board of Directors as of the _____ day of January, 2023. 
 
 
 
              
      Secretary       
      , Secretary 
 
 
 

6

Item 1.



5 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

Exhibit A 
 

BYLAWS 

OF 

GRAND PRAIRIE PFC, 

a Texas Public Facility Corporation  

 

 ARTICLE I 

 PURPOSE AND POWERS 

 

Section 1.1 Purpose.  Grand Prairie PFC (the “Corporation”) is incorporated for the 

purposes set forth in Article Four of its Certificate of Formation, the same to be accomplished on 

behalf of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas (the “City”) as its duly constituted City and 

instrumentality in accordance with the Public Facility Corporation Act, as amended, Chapter 

303, Texas Government code (the “Act”), and other applicable laws. 

 

Section 1.2 Powers.  In the fulfillment of its corporate purpose, the Corporation shall 

be governed by the Act, and shall have all the powers set forth and conferred in its Certificate of 

Formation, in the Act, and in other applicable law, subject to the limitations prescribed therein 

and herein and to the provisions thereof and hereof. 

 

Section 1.3 Nonprofit Corporation.  The Corporation shall be a public, nonprofit 

corporation and no part of its set earnings remaining after payment of its bonds and expenses 

shall inure to the benefit of any person other than the City. 

 

 ARTICLE II 

 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

Section 2.1 Powers, Number and Term of Office. 

 

(a) The property and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed and 

controlled by a board of directors (the “Board”) subject to the restrictions imposed by law, the 

Act, the Certificate of Formation, and these Bylaws, the Board shall exercise all of the powers of 

the Corporation. 

 

(b) The Board shall consist of the members of the Director of Housing and 

Neighborhood Services, Deputy City Manager and three or more City Council appointments.  

The number of directors may be changed by amendment to these Bylaws, but such number must 

be at least five (5).  

 

(c) The directors constituting the initial Board shall be those directors named 

in the Certificate of Formation.  Successor directors shall have the qualifications and shall be 

appointed to the terms set forth in the Certificate of Formation. 

 

7

Item 1.



6 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

(d) If a member of the Board resigns, dies, or is absent from three (3) 

consecutive meetings, the appointing mayor may designate a new member to complete the 

unexpired term of the departing member upon written notice by the President of the Board of 

Directors. 

 

Section 2.2 Additional Powers.  In addition to the powers and authorities by these 

Bylaws expressly conferred upon them, the Board may exercise all such powers of the 

Corporation and do all lawful acts and things as are not by statute, other law, or by these Bylaws 

prohibited.  Without prejudice to such general powers and other powers conferred by statute, 

other law, and by these Bylaws, it is hereby expressly declared that the Board shall have the 

powers set forth in Section 303.041 of the Act, as amended. 

 

Section 2.3 Meetings of Directors.  

 

(a) The directors may hold their meetings at such place or places as the Board 

may from time to time determine; provided, however, in the absence of any such determination 

by the Board, the meetings shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation as specified in 

Section 5.1(a) of these Bylaws.  The Corporation shall also conduct at least one annual regular 

meeting of the Corporation.  In addition, regular meetings of the Board shall be held without the 

necessity of notice to directors at such times and places as shall be designated from time to time 

by the Board.  Special meetings of the Board shall be held whenever called by the president, by 

the secretary, by a majority of the directors, or by the City. 

 

(b) Subject to Section 2.4 hereof, the secretary shall give notice to each 

director of each special meeting in person or by mail, telephone or telegraph, at least two (2) 

hours before the meeting.  Unless otherwise indicated in the notice thereof, any and all matters 

pertaining to the purposes of the Corporation may be considered and acted upon at a special 

meeting.  At any meeting at which every director shall be present, even though without any 

notice, any matter pertaining to the purpose of the Corporation may be considered and acted 

upon consistent with applicable law. 

 

(c) Subject to Section 2.4 hereof, whenever any notice is required to be given 

to the Board, said notice shall be deemed to be sufficient if given by depositing the same in the 

United States mail in a sealed postpaid envelope addressed to the person entitled thereto at his or 

her mailing address as it appears on the books of the Corporation, and such notice shall be 

deemed to have been given on the day of such mailing.  Attendance of a director at a meeting 

shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except attendance of a director at a meeting 

for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the 

meeting is not lawfully called or convened.  Neither the business to be transacted at nor the 

purpose of any regular or special meetings of the Board need be specified in the notice to 

directors or waiver of notice of such meeting, unless required by the Board.  A waiver of notice 

in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the 

time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. 

 

8

Item 1.



7 

1785040.1/007042.000000 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

Section 2.4 Open Meetings Act.  All meetings and deliberations of the Board shall be 

called, convened, held, and conducted, and notice shall be given to the public, in accordance with 

the Texas Open Meetings Act, as amended, Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 

 

Section 2.5 Quorum.  A majority of the entire membership of the Board shall 

constitute a quorum to conduct official business of the Corporation.  The act of a majority of the 

Board present at a meeting at which a quorum is in attendance shall constitute the act of the 

Board and of the Corporation, unless law requires the act of a greater number. 

 

Section 2.6 Conduct of Business. 

 

(a) At the meetings of the Board, matters pertaining to the business of the 

Corporation shall be considered in accordance with rules of procedure as from time to time 

prescribed by the Board. 

 

(b) At all meetings of the Board, the president shall preside.  In the absence of 

the president, the vice president shall preside.  In the absence of both the president and vice 

president, a member of the Board selected by the members present shall preside. 

 

(c) The secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary of all meetings of 

the Board, but in the absence of the secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any person to act 

as secretary of the meeting.  The president, treasurer, secretary and any assistant secretary may, 

at the option of the Board, be employees of the City and each member of the Board with the 

exception of the president, vice president or secretary, may be appointed as assistant secretaries. 

 

Section 2.7 Committees of the Board.  The Board may designate two (2) or more 

directors to constitute an official committee of the Board to exercise such City, as approved by 

resolution of the Board.  It is provided, however, that only the Board may exercise all final, 

official actions of the Corporation.  Each committee so designated shall keep regular minutes of 

the transactions of its meetings and shall cause such minutes to be recorded in books kept for that 

purpose in the principal office of the Corporation and any such meetings must be conducted in 

accordance with the provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act, as amended, Chapter 551, 

Texas Government Code, if applicable. 

 

Section 2.8 Compensation of Directors.  Directors shall not receive any salary of 

compensation for their services as directors.  However, they shall be reimbursed for their actual 

expenses incurred in the performance of their official duties as directors. 

 

 ARTICLE III 

 OFFICERS 

 

Section 3.1 Titles and Terms of Office. 

 

9

Item 1.



8 

1785040.1/007042.000000 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

(a) The officers of the Corporation shall be a president, a vice president, a 

secretary and a treasurer and such other officers as the Board may from time to time elect to fill a 

vacancy.  One person may hold more than one office, except that the president shall not hold the 

office of secretary.  Officers shall serve for one-year term or until his or her successor is elected 

or appointed.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, all officers of the Corporation, except the secretary 

and treasurer, shall be members of the Board.  Upon the expiration of the terms, each officer 

shall have the right to be re-appointed or re-elected. 

 

(b) All officers shall be subject to removal from office at any time by a vote 

of a majority of the Board. 

 

(c) A vacancy in the office of any director shall be filled by a vote of a 

majority of the Board. 

 

Section 3.2 Powers and Duties of the President.  The president shall be the chief 

operating executive officer of the Corporation, and subject to the City of the Board, the president 

shall be in general charge of the properties and affairs of the Corporation, and execute all 

contracts, conveyances, franchises, bonds, deeds, assignments, mortgages, leases, notes and other 

instruments in the name of the Corporation.  The President shall preside over the meetings of the 

Corporation. 

 

Section 3.3 Vice President.  The vice president shall have such powers and duties as 

may be prescribed by the Board and shall exercise the powers of the president during that 

officer’s absence or inability to act, in their respective order.  Any action taken by the vice 

president in the performance of the duties of the president shall be conclusive evidence of the 

absence or inability to act of the president at the time such action was taken. 

 

Section 3.4 Treasurer.  The treasurer shall be the chief fiscal officer of the Corporation 

and shall have the responsibility to see to the handling, custody, and security of all funds and 

securities of the Corporation in accordance with these Bylaws.  When necessary or proper, the 

treasurer may endorse and sign, on behalf of the Corporation, for collection or issuance, checks, 

notes, and other obligations in or drawn upon such bank, banks or depositories as shall be 

designated by the Board consistent with these Bylaws.  The treasurer shall see to the entry in the 

books of the Corporation full and accurate accounts of all money received and paid out on 

account of the Corporation.  The treasurer shall, at the expense of the Corporation, give such 

bond for the faithful discharge of his/her duties in such form, and amount as the Board may 

require.  All check writing City will follow all applicable City policies concerning 

authorizations, signatures and disbursements. 

 

Section 3.5 Secretary.  The secretary shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the 

Board and books provided for that purpose, shall give and serve all notices, may sign with the 

president in the name of the Corporation, and/or attest the signature thereto, all contracts, 

conveyances, franchises, bonds, deeds, assignments, mortgages, notes and other instruments of 

the Corporation, shall have charge of the corporate books, records, documents and instruments, 

10

Item 1.



9 

1785040.1/007042.000000 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

except the books of  account and financial records and securities, and such other books and 

papers as the Board may direct, all of which shall at all reasonable times be open to public 

inspection upon application at the  office of the Corporation during business hours, and shall in 

general perform all duties incident to the office of secretary subject to the control of the Board. 

 

Section 3.6 Compensation.  Officers who are members of the Board shall not receive 

any salary or compensation for their services, except that they shall be reimbursed for the actual 

expenses incurred in the performance of their official duties as officers. 

 

 ARTICLE IV 

 FUNCTIONAL CORPORATE DUTIES AND REQUIREMENTS 

 

Section 4.1 Books, Records, and Audits. 

 

(a) The Corporation shall keep and properly maintain in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles, complete books, records, accounts, and financial 

statements pertaining to its corporate funds, activities, and affairs. 

 

(b) At the direction of the City, the accountants, staff and personnel of the 

City may maintain the books, records, accounts, and financial statements of the Corporation for 

the Corporation. 

 

(c) The Corporation, or the City if the option of subsection (b) is selected, 

shall cause its books, records, accounts, and financial statements to be studied at least once each 

fiscal year by an outside, independent auditing and accounting firm selected by the City and 

approved by the Board.  Such an audit shall be at the expense of the Corporation and shall be 

delivered to the City within 150 days of the end of the fiscal year of the Corporation. 

 

(d) All books and records of the Corporation may be inspected by any director 

or his or her agent or attorney for any purpose at any reasonable time and at all times the City 

shall have access to the books, records, and financial statements of the Corporation. 

 

Section 4.2 Deposit and Investment of Corporation Funds. 

 

(a) All proceeds from loans or from the issuance of bonds, notes, or other debt 

instruments (“Obligations”) issued by the Corporation in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act shall be deposited and invested as provided in the resolution, order, indenture, or other 

documents authorizing or relating to their execution or issuance. 

 

(b) Subject to the requirements of contracts, loan agreements, indentures or 

other agreements securing Obligations, all other money of the Corporation, if any, shall be 

deposited, secured, and/or invested in the manner provided for the deposit, security and/or 

investment of the public funds of the City.  The Board shall designate the accounts and 

depositories to be created and designated for such purposes, and the methods of withdrawal of 

11

Item 1.



10 

1785040.1/007042.000000 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

funds therefrom for use by and for the purposes of the Corporation upon the signature of its 

treasurer and such other persons as the Board designates.  The Chief Financial Officer of the City 

or designee of the Chief Financial Officer shall perform the accounts, reconciliation, and 

investment of such funds and accounts. 

 

Funds of the Corporation, the proceeds from the sale of property, revenues generated by 

and payable to the Corporation pursuant to the Act or any other source of revenues that are 

payable to the Corporation and the proceeds derived from the sale of Obligations, may be 

expended by the Corporation for any of the purposes authorized by the Act, except expenditures 

that may be made from a fund created with the proceeds of Obligations, and expenditures of 

money derived from sources other than the  proceeds of Obligations may be used for the purpose 

of financing or otherwise providing for the acquisition, construction, rehabilitation, renovation, 

repair, equipping, furnishing and placement in service of public facilities of the City under the 

terms of the Act. 

 

Section 4.4 Issuance of Obligations.  No Obligations, including refunding obligations, 

shall be authorized or sold and delivered by the Corporation unless the City approves such 

Obligations by action taken prior to the date of initial delivery of the Obligations to the initial 

purchasers thereof. 

 

 ARTICLE V 

 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

Section 5.1 Principal Office. 

 

(a) The principal office and the registered office of the Corporation shall be 

the registered office of the Corporation located at 300 W. Main, Grand Prairie, Texas 75053 as 

specified in the Certificate of Formation. 

 

Section 4.3 Expenditure of Corporate Money.  The proceeds from the investment of  

 

(a) The Corporation shall have and shall continually designate a registered 

agent at its office, as required by the Act. 

 

Section 5.2 Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the same as the 

fiscal year of the City. 

 

Section 4.3 Expenditure of Corporate Money.  The proceeds from the investment of  

 

(a) The Corporation shall have and shall continually designate a registered 

agent at its office, as required by the Act. 

 

Section 5.2 Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the same as the 

fiscal year of the City. 

12

Item 1.



11 

1785040.1/007042.000000 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

 

Section 5.3 Seal.  No seal of the Corporation shall be required. 

 

Section 5.4 Resignations.  Any director or officer may resign at any time.  Such 

resignation shall be made in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no 

time is specified, at the time of its receipt by the president or secretary.  The acceptance of 

resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective, unless expressly so provided in the 

resignation. 

 

Section 5.5 Approval or Advice and Consent of the City.  To the extent that these 

Bylaws refer to any approval by the City or refer to advice and consent by the City, a certified 

copy of a resolution, order or motion duly adopted by the City shall evidence such advice and 

consent. 

 

Section 5.6 Services of City Staff and Officers.  To the extent possible, the 

Corporation shall utilize the services and the staff employees of the City.  All requests for staff 

time or inquiries of staff will be requested through the secretary.  The Corporation shall pay 

reasonable compensation to the City for such services, and the performance of such services 

shall not materially interfere with the other duties of such personnel of the City. 

 

Section 5.7 Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Employees. 

 

(a) The Corporation is, for the purposes of the Texas Tort Claims Act 

(Subchapter A, Chapter 101, Texas Civil Practices and Remedies Code), a governmental unit and 

its actions are governmental functions. 

 

(b) As provided in Section 303.037 of the Act, the Corporation shall 

indemnify each and every member of the Board, its officers and its employees and each member 

of the Board and each employee of the City, to the fullest extent permitted by law, against any 

and all liability or expense, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by any of such persons by reason 

of any actions or omissions that may arise out of the sanctions and activities of the Corporation; 

provided, however, that the Corporation may not provide indemnity in any manner if the 

director, officer, employee, or agent is guilty of negligence or misconduct in relation to the 

matter. The legal counsel for the Corporation is authorized to provide a defense for members of 

the Board, officers, and employees of the Corporation.  

 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE VI 

EFFECTIVE DATE, AMENDMENTS; MISCELLANEOUS 

 

13

Item 1.



12 

1785040.1/007042.000000 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

Section 6.1 Effective Date. These Bylaws shall become effective upon the occurrence 

of the following events:  

(1) the approval of these Bylaws by the City, which approval may be granted 

prior to the creation of the Corporation; and  

 

(2) the adoption of the Bylaws by the Board.  

 

Section 6.2  Amendments to Certificate of Formation and Bylaws. The Certificate of 

Formation of the Corporation and these Bylaws may be amended only in the manner provided in 

the Certificate of Formation and the Act.  

 

Section 6.3 Interpretation of Bylaws. These Bylaws shall be liberally construed to 

effectuate the purposes set forth herein.  If any word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section 

or other part of these Bylaws, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances, shall 

ever be held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, the 

remainder of these Bylaws and the application of such word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, 

section or other part of these Bylaws to any other person or circumstance shall not be affected 

thereby.  

 

Section 6.4  Termination. Upon the termination of the Corporation after payment of all 

obligations of the Corporation, all remaining assets of the Corporation shall be transferred to the 

City.  

 

14

Item 1.



 

 13 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

 

Adoption of Bylaws 

We, the undersigned, are all of the initial directors of the Corporation, and we consent to, 

and hereby adopt, the foregoing Bylaws, consisting of nine (9) pages, as the Bylaws of this 

Corporation.  

 Dated: ________________, 2023. 

 

By:       

 William A. Hills  

 

 

By:       

 Esther Coleman 

 

 

By:       

 Greg Giessner 

 

 

By:       

John Lopez 

 

 

       By:       

 Thao Vo 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15

Item 1.



 

 14 
4870-1802-2697.v2 

 
 

16

Item 1.



RESOLUTION NO. 5103- 2020

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS

AUTHORIZING THE FORMATION OF GRAND PRAIRIE PFC, A PUBLIC FACILITY

CORPORATION

WHEREAS, the City of Grand Prairie, Texas ( the " City") desires to promote and assist in the provision quality
affordable housing; and

WHEREAS, the City, pursuant to the provisions of the Public Facility Corporation Act, Chapter 303, Texas Local
Government Code ( the " Act") is authorized to create a public facility corporation for the purposes set forth in the
Act, including the issuance of bonds and the ownership of real property; and

WHEREAS, the City desires to, pursuant to the provisions of the Act, sponsor and create " Grand Prairie PFC", a

public facility corporation ( the " Corporation"); and

WHEREAS, the City has prepared ( a) for filing with the Secretary of State of the State of Texas the Certificate of
Formation for the Corporation, and ( b) the Bylaws for the Corporation; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

THAT: 

SECTION 1. The City of Grand Prairie, acting through its governing body, authorizes and approves the City
Manager, or his designee to cause to be created a public facility corporation using the name " Grand Prairie PFC". 

SECTION 2. The Certificate of Formation of the Corporation, attached hereto as Exhibit " A", and filed with the

Secretary of State of the State of Texas is hereby approved and ratified. The Board of Director appointments located
in the Certificate of Formation are approved. 

SECTION 3. The form of Bylaws attached hereto as Exhibit " B", are hereby adopted as the Bylaws of the
Corporation. 

SECTION 4. The City Manager or his designee is hereby authorized and directed to take such further action in the
consummation of the transactions herein contemplated and to do any and all other acts and things necessary or
proper in furtherance thereof, as the City Manager or his designee shall deem to be necessary or desirable, and all
acts heretofore taken by the City Manager to such end are hereby expressly ratified and confirmed as the acts and
deeds of the City. 

SECTION 5. This Resolution shall be and become effective immediately upon and after its adoption and approval. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS, ON

THIS THE 181' DAY OF AUGUST 2020. 

ATTEST: 

City etary

APPROVED: 

Ron Jensen, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

City A toty
17

Item 1.



Exhibit A

CERTIFICATE OF FORMATION

OF

GRAND PRAIRIE PFC

A PUBLIC FACILITY CORPORATION AND

INSTRUMENTALITY OF T H E

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE

Pursuant to the Texas Business Organizations Code, Grand Prairie PFC ( the

Corporation"), a non- profit corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas, and
public nonprofit corporation under the Public Facility Corporation Act, as amended, Chapter 303, 
Texas Local Government Code ( the " Act") with the approval of the City Council of the City of
Grand Prairie, Texas ( the " City"), as evidenced by the resolution attached hereto as Exhibit " A" 
and made a part of this Certificate of Formation for all purposes, does hereby adopt the following
Certificate of Formation for the Corporation: 

ARTICLE ONE

NAME

The name of the Corporation is the " Grand Prairie PFC". 

ARTICLE TWO

AUTHORIZATION

The Corporation is a nonprofit public corporation. 

ARTICLE THREE

DURATION

Subject to the provisions of Article Thirteen hereof, the period of duration of the
Corporation is perpetual. 

ARTICLE FOUR

PURPOSE AND LIMITATIONS

a) The Corporation is organized exclusively for the purpose of assisting the City in
financing, refinancing or providing public facilities. The Corporation shall have and possess the
broadest possible powers to finance obligations issued or incurred in accordance with existing law, 
to provide for the acquisition, construction, rehabilitation, renovation, repair, equipping, furnishing
and placement in service of public facilities of the City under the terms of the Act. The corporation
is authorized to issue " bonds" as defined and permitted by the Act on behalf of the City; provided, 
however, no bonds, notes, interim certificates, or other evidence of indebtedness may be issued by
the Corporation unless such bonds are first approved by resolution of the City. The Corporation

is a public corporation, and a public instrumentality within the meaning of the Act, the United
States Treasury Department, the rulings of the Internal Revenue Service prescribed and

016645. 000001 \ 4817- 3425- 4524. v4
18

Item 1.



Exhibit A

promulgated pursuant to section 103 and 141 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 
and the Corporation is authorized to act on behalf of the City as provided in this Certificate of
Formation. 

b) In the fulfillment of its corporate purpose, the Corporation shall have and may
exercise the powers described in paragraph ( a) of this Article, together with all of the other powers
granted to corporations that are incorporated under the Act, and to the extent not in conflict with

the Act, the Corporation shall additionally have and may exercise all of the rights, powers, 
privileges, authorities, and functions given by the general laws of the State to nonprofit
corporations under the Texas Non -Profit Corporation Act, as amended, Texas Revised Civil

Statutes Annotated Article 1396- 101, et seq., or any other applicable laws of the State. 

c) The Corporation shall have the purposes and powers permitted by the Act, but the
Corporation does not have, and shall not exercise the powers of sovereignty of the City, including
the power to tax, eminent domain, or police power. However, for the purposes of the Texas Tort
Claims Act ( Subchapter A, Chapter 101, Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code), the

Corporation is a governmental unit and its actions are governmental functions. 

d) No bonds or other obligations, contracts, or agreements of the Corporation are or

shall ever be deemed to be or constitute the contracts, agreements, bonds, other debt instruments, 

or other obligations or the lending of credit, or a grant of the public money or things of value, of, 
belonging to, or by the State, the City, or any other political corporation, subdivision or agency of
the State, or a pledge of the faith and credit of any of them. Any and all of such contracts, 
agreements, bonds or other debt instruments, and other obligations, contracts and agreements shall

be payable solely and exclusively from the revenues and funds received by the Corporation from
the sources authorized by the Act and from such other sources as may be otherwise lawfully
available and belonging to the Corporation from time to time. 

e) The City, in its sole discretion, may alter the Corporation' s structure, name, 
organization, programs, or activities; consistent with the Act and subject to limitations provided
by law relating to the impairment of contracts entered into by the Corporation. 

ARTICLE FIVE

FINANCING

a) Before the consummation of the sale and delivery of any bonds, the Corporation
shall obtain approval by the City, evidenced by the adoption of a written resolution. 

b) In the exercise of the powers of the Corporation, the Corporation may enter into
loan, lease, trust, or other agreements as authorized by the Act that are necessary and appropriate
to the fulfillment of the public purpose of the Corporation, all of which agreements ( and the
specific uses, and the method of withdrawals and expenditure of the proceeds of the bonds) must
be included as a part of the approval process of the City required by paragraph (a) above. 

2

0 16645. 000001\ 4817- 3425- 4524. v4
19

Item 1.



Exhibit A

ARTICLE SIX

MEMBERS

The Corporation has no members and is a non -stock corporation. 

ARTICLE SEVEN

AMENDMENTS

This Certificate of Formation may be amended at any time as provided in the Act, to make
any changes and add any provisions that might have been included in the Certificate of Formation

in the first instance. Any amendment may be accomplished in either of the following manners: 

a) The members of the board of directors of the Corporation shall file with the City a
written application requesting approval of the amendments to the Certificate of Formation, 

specifying in such application the amendments proposed to be made. The City shall consider such
application and, if it shall, by appropriate resolution, duly find and determine that it is advisable
that the proposed amendments be made, it shall approve the form of the proposed amendments. 
The board of directors of the Corporation may then amend the Certificate of Formation by adopting
such amendment at a meeting of the board of directors. The Corporation' s president or vice
president and the secretary of the City shall execute the amendment on behalf of the Corporation. 
The amendment and a certified copy of the resolution of the City shall be delivered to the Secretary
of State as required by the Act; or

b) The City may, at its sole discretion, and at any time, amend this Certificate of
Formation and alter or change the structure, name, organization, programs or activities of the
Corporation, or terminate or dissolve the Corporation ( subject to the provisions of the Act) by
resolution as otherwise provided in the Act. 

ARTICLE EIGHT

ADDRESS

The street address of the initial registered office of the Corporation is 300 West Main, 

Grand Prairie, Texas 75053, and the name of its initial registered agent at that address is William
A. Hills. 

ARTICLE NINE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

a) The management of the affairs of the Corporation is vested in its Board of

Directors. The number of directors and their manner of election or appointment shall from time

to time be fixed by the Bylaws of the Corporation ( the " Bylaws"). The number of directors may
be increased or decreased from time to time by amendment to the Bylaws, but no decrease shall
have the effect of shortening the term of any incumbent director, nor in any event shall there ever
be fewer than five directors. The directors shall include Director of Housing and Neighborhood
Services and the Deputy City Manager, and the remaining three directors shall be appointed by the
City Council of the City. The names and street addresses of the persons who are to serve as the

0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4817- 3425- 4524. v4
20

Item 1.



Exhibit A

initial directors until the first annual meeting of the Board of Directors or until their successors are
elected and qualified in accordance with the Bylaws are as follows: 

NAMES ADDRFSSF. 4

Steve Dye 300 West Main, Grand Prairie TX 75053

William A. Hills 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053

Greg Giessner 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053

John Lopez 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053

Susan Sanders 300 West Main, Grand Prairie, TX 75053

Each director shall serve an initial five ( 5) year term, as subject to the terms of the Act. 

b) The directors shall serve without compensation, but they shall be reimbursed for
their actual expenses incurred in the performance of their duties as directors. 

c) The board of directors shall elect a president, vice president, secretary, treasurer
and any other officers that the Corporation considers necessary, to serve as executive officers of
the Corporation, as more specifically provided in the Corporation' s bylaws. The Director of
Housing and Neighborhood Services of the City of Grand Prairie shall serve as the Secretary of
the Corporation to provide administrative support services for the Corporation. 

d) Meetings of the board of directors are subject to the Texas Open Meetings Act, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 551, and the Corporation is subject to the Texas Public

Information Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 552. 

ARTICLE TEN

BYLAWS

The initial bylaws of the Corporation shall be adopted by the Corporation' s board of
directors and shall, together with this Certificate of Formation, govern the initial affairs of the
Corporation until and unless amended in accordance with the provisions of the Act and this
Certificate of Formation. The bylaws and each amendment and repeal of the bylaws must be

approved by the City by resolution. 

ARTICLE ELEVEN

INCORPORATOR

The name and street address of each incorporator is: 

Name Address

Mattye Gouldsby Jones 14755 Preston Road, Suite 600, Dallas, TX 75254

ARTICLE TWELVE

4

0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4817- 3425- 4524. v4
21

Item 1.



Exhibit A

CITY APPROVAL

a) The City has specifically authorized the Corporation by resolution to act on its
behalf to further the public purposes stated in this Certificate of Formation, and the City has by
resolution, dated August 18, 2020, approved this Certificate of Formation. A copy of this
resolution is on file among the permanent public records of the City and the Corporation. 

b) The City is the Corporation' s " Sponsor" ( as defined by the Act) and has caused this
Corporation to be created. The address of the City is 300 West Main, Grand Prairie Texas 75053. 

ARTICLE THIRTEEN

TERMINATION

The City, by written resolution, may authorize and direct the termination of the
Corporation. However, the Corporation shall not be terminated, and its business shall not be

terminated, by act of the City or otherwise, so long as the Corporation shall be obligated to pay
any bonds. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate of Formation as

of May, 2020. 

Mattye Gouldsby Jones
Incorporator

5

016645. 000001 \ 4817- 3425- 4524. v4 22

Item 1.



Exhibit B

BYLAWS

OF

GRAND PRAIRIE PFC, 

a Texas Public Facility Corporation

ARTICLE I

PURPOSE AND POWERS

Section 1. 1 Purpose. Grand Prairie PFC ( the " Corporation") is incorporated for the

purposes set forth in Article Four of its Certificate of Formation, the same to be accomplished on

behalf of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas ( the " City") as its duly constituted City and
instrumentality in accordance with the Public Facility Corporation Act, as amended, Chapter 303, 
Texas Government code ( the " Act"), and other applicable laws. 

Section 1. 2 Powers. In the fulfillment of its corporate purpose, the Corporation shall be
governed by the Act, and shall have all the powers set forth and conferred in its Certificate of
Formation, in the Act, and in other applicable law, subject to the limitations prescribed therein and
herein and to the provisions thereof and hereof. 

Section 1. 3 Nonprofit Corporation. The Corporation shall be a public, nonprofit
corporation and no part of its set earnings remaining after payment of its bonds and expenses shall
inure to the benefit of any person other than the City. 

ARTICLE II

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 2. 1 Powers, Number and Term of Office. 

a) The property and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed and controlled
by a board of directors ( the " Board") subject to the restrictions imposed by law, the Act, the
Certificate of Formation, and these Bylaws, the Board shall exercise all of the powers of the
Corporation. 

b) The Board shall consist of the members of the Director of Housing and
Neighborhood Services, Deputy City Manager and three or more City Council appointments. The
number of directors may be changed by amendment to these Bylaws, but such number must be at
least five ( 5). 

c) The directors constituting the initial Board shall be those directors named
in the Certificate of Formation. Successor directors shall have the qualifications and shall be
appointed to the terms set forth in the Certificate of Formation. 

0 16645. 00000 1\ 4830- 9426- 5276. v3

23

Item 1.



Exhibit B

d) If a member of the Board resigns, dies, or is absent from three ( 3) 

consecutive meetings, the appointing mayor may designate a new member to complete the
unexpired term of the departing member upon written notice by the President of the Board of
Directors. 

Section 2. 2 Additional Powers. In addition to the powers and authorities by these
Bylaws expressly conferred upon them, the Board may exercise all such powers of the Corporation
and do all lawful acts and things as are not by statute, other law, or by these Bylaws prohibited. 
Without prejudice to such general powers and other powers conferred by statute, other law, and
by these Bylaws, it is hereby expressly declared that the Board shall have the powers set forth in
Section 303. 041 of the Act, as amended. 

Section 2. 3 Meetings of Directors. 

a) The directors may hold their meetings at such place or places as the Board
may from time to time determine; provided, however, in the absence of any such determination by
the Board, the meetings shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation as specified in
Section 5. 1( a) of these Bylaws. The Corporation shall also conduct at least one annual regular

meeting of the Corporation. In addition, regular meetings of the Board shall be held without the

necessity of notice to directors at such times and places as shall be designated from time to time
by the Board. Special meetings of the Board shall be held whenever called by the president, by
the secretary, by a majority of the directors, or by the City. 

b) Subject to Section 2. 4 hereof, the secretary shall give notice to each director
of each special meeting in person or by mail, telephone or telegraph, at least two ( 2) hours before
the meeting. Unless otherwise indicated in the notice thereof, any and all matters pertaining to the
purposes of the Corporation may be considered and acted upon at a special meeting. At any
meeting at which every director shall be present, even though without any notice, any matter
pertaining to the purpose of the Corporation may be considered and acted upon consistent with
applicable law. 

c) Subject to Section 2. 4 hereof, whenever any notice is required to be given
to the Board, said notice shall be deemed to be sufficient if given by depositing the same in the
United States mail in a sealed postpaid envelope addressed to the person entitled thereto at his or
her mailing address as it appears on the books of the Corporation, and such notice shall be deemed
to have been given on the day of such mailing. Attendance of a director at a meeting shall
constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except attendance of a director at a meeting for the
express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is
not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at nor the purpose of any
regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice to directors or waiver of

notice of such meeting, unless required by the Board. A waiver of notice in writing, signed by the
person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be
deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. 

2

0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4830- 9426- 5276. v3

24

Item 1.



Exhibit B

Section 2. 4 Open Meetings Act. All meetings and deliberations of the Board shall be

called, convened, held, and conducted, and notice shall be given to the public, in accordance with
the Texas Open Meetings Act, as amended, Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 

Section 2. 5 Quorum. A majority of the entire membership of the Board shall constitute
a quorum to conduct official business of the Corporation. The act of a majority of the Board
present at a meeting at which a quorum is in attendance shall constitute the act of the Board and
of the Corporation, unless law requires the act of a greater number. 

Section 2. 6 Conduct of Business. 

a) At the meetings of the Board, matters pertaining to the business of the
Corporation shall be considered in accordance with rules of procedure as from time to time
prescribed by the Board. 

b) At all meetings of the Board, the president shall preside. In the absence of

the president, the vice president shall preside. In the absence of both the president and vice
president, a member of the Board selected by the members present shall preside. 

c) The secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary of all meetings of the
Board, but in the absence of the secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any person to act as
secretary of the meeting. The president, treasurer, secretary and any assistant secretary may, at the
option of the Board, be employees of the City and each member of the Board with the exception
of the president, vice president or secretary, may be appointed as assistant secretaries. 

Section 2. 7 Committees of the Board. The Board may designate two ( 2) or more
directors to constitute an official committee of the Board to exercise such City, as approved by
resolution of the Board. It is provided, however, that only the Board may exercise all final, official
actions of the Corporation. Each committee so designated shall keep regular minutes of the
transactions of its meetings and shall cause such minutes to be recorded in books kept for that

purpose in the principal office of the Corporation and any such meetings must be conducted in
accordance with the provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act, as amended, Chapter 551, Texas
Government Code, if applicable. 

Section 2. 8 Compensation of Directors. Directors shall not receive any salary of
compensation for their services as directors. However, they shall be reimbursed for their actual
expenses incurred in the performance of their official duties as directors. 

ARTICLE III

OFFICERS

3

864834. 2/ 006569. 000001
0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4830- 9426- 5276A

25

Item 1.



Exhibit B

Section 3. 1 Titles and Terms of Office. 

a) The officers of the Corporation shall be a president, a vice president, a
secretary and a treasurer and such other officers as the Board may from time to time elect to fill a
vacancy. One person may hold more than one office, except that the president shall not hold the
office of secretary. Officers shall serve for one-year term or until his or her successor is elected
or appointed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all officers of the Corporation, except the secretary
and treasurer, shall be members of the Board. Upon the expiration of the terms, each officer shall
have the right to be re -appointed or re- elected. 

b) All officers shall be subject to removal from office at any time by a vote of
a majority of the Board. 

c) A vacancy in the office of any director shall be filled by a vote of a majority
of the Board. 

Section 3. 2 Powers and Duties of the President. The president shall be the chief
operating executive officer of the Corporation, and subject to the City of the Board, the president
shall be in general charge of the properties and affairs of the Corporation, and execute all contracts, 
conveyances, franchises, bonds, deeds, assignments, mortgages, leases, notes and other

instruments in the name of the Corporation. The President shall preside over the meetings of the
Corporation. 

Section 3. 3 Vice President. The vice president shall have such powers and duties as
may be prescribed by the Board and shall exercise the powers of the president during that officer' s
absence or inability to act, in their respective order. Any action taken by the vice president in the
performance of the duties of the president shall be conclusive evidence of the absence or inability
to act of the president at the time such action was taken. 

Section 3. 4 Treasurer. The treasurer shall be the chief fiscal officer of the Corporation, 

and shall have the responsibility to see to the handling, custody, and security of all funds and
securities of the Corporation in accordance with these Bylaws. When necessary or proper, the
treasurer may endorse and sign, on behalf of the Corporation, for collection or issuance, checks, 
notes, and other obligations in or drawn upon such bank, banks or depositories as shall be
designated by the Board consistent with these Bylaws. The treasurer shall see to the entry in the
books of the Corporation full and accurate accounts of all money received and paid out on account
of the Corporation. The treasurer shall, at the expense of the Corporation, give such bond for the
faithful discharge of his/ her duties in such form, and amount as the Board may require. All check
writing City will follow all applicable City policies concerning authorizations, signatures and
disbursements. 

4

864834. 2/ 006569. 000001
0 16645. 00000 1\ 4830- 9426- 5276. v3

26

Item 1.



Exhibit B

Section 3. 5 Secretary. The secretary shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the Board
and books provided for that purpose, shall give and serve all notices, may sign with the president
in the name of the Corporation, and/ or attest the signature thereto, all contracts, conveyances, 

franchises, bonds, deeds, assignments, mortgages, notes and other instruments of the Corporation, 
shall have charge of the corporate books, records, documents and instruments, except the books of

account and financial records and securities, and such other books and papers as the Board may
direct, all of which shall at all reasonable times be open to public inspection upon application at
the office of the Corporation during business hours, and shall in general perform all duties incident
to the office of secretary subject to the control of the Board. 

Section 3. 6 Compensation. Officers who are members of the Board shall not receive

any salary or compensation for their services, except that they shall be reimbursed for the actual
expenses incurred in the performance of their official duties as officers. 

ARTICLE IV

FUNCTIONAL CORPORATE DUTIES AND REQUIREMENTS

Section 4. 1 Books, Records, and Audits. 

a) The Corporation shall keep and properly maintain in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, complete books, records, accounts, and financial

statements pertaining to its corporate funds, activities, and affairs. 

b) At the direction of the City, the accountants, staff and personnel of the City
may maintain the books, records, accounts, and financial statements of the Corporation for the
Corporation. 

c) The Corporation, or the City if the option of subsection ( b) is selected, shall
cause its books, records, accounts, and financial statements to be studied at least once each fiscal

year by an outside, independent auditing and accounting firm selected by the City and approved
by the Board. Such an audit shall be at the expense of the Corporation and shall be delivered to

the City within 150 days of the end of the fiscal year of the Corporation. 

d) All books and records of the Corporation may be inspected by any director
or his or her agent or attorney for any purpose at any reasonable time and at all times the City shall
have access to the books, records, and financial statements of the Corporation. 

Section 4. 2 Deposit and Investment of Corporation Funds. 

a) All proceeds from loans or from the issuance of bonds, notes, or other debt
instruments (" Obligations") issued by the Corporation in accordance with the provisions of the

5

864834. 2/ 006569. 000001
0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4830- 9426- 5276. v3

27

Item 1.



Exhibit B

Act shall be deposited and invested as provided in the resolution, order, indenture, or other
documents authorizing or relating to their execution or issuance. 

b) Subject to the requirements of contracts, loan agreements, indentures or

other agreements securing Obligations, all other money of the Corporation, if any, shall be
deposited, secured, and/ or invested in the manner provided for the deposit, security and/ or
investment of the public funds of the City. The Board shall designate the accounts and depositories
to be created and designated for such purposes, and the methods of withdrawal of funds therefrom
for use by and for the purposes of the Corporation upon the signature of its treasurer and such other
persons as the Board designates. The Chief Financial Officer of the City or designee of the Chief
Financial Officer shall perform the accounts, reconciliation, and investment of such funds and
accounts. 

Funds of the Corporation, the proceeds from the sale of property, revenues generated by
and payable to the Corporation pursuant to the Act or any other source of revenues that are payable
to the Corporation and the proceeds derived from the sale of Obligations, may be expended by the
Corporation for any of the purposes authorized by the Act, except expenditures that may be made
from a fund created with the proceeds of Obligations, and expenditures of money derived from
sources other than the proceeds of Obligations may be used for the purpose of financing or
otherwise providing for the acquisition, construction, rehabilitation, renovation, repair, equipping, 
furnishing and placement in service of public facilities of the City under the terms of the Act. 

Section 4. 4 Issuance of Obligations. No Obligations, including refunding obligations, 
shall be authorized or sold and delivered by the Corporation unless the City approves such
Obligations by action taken prior to the date of initial delivery of the Obligations to the initial
purchasers thereof. 

ARTICLE V

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 5. 1 Principal Office. 

a) The principal office and the registered office of the Corporation shall be the
registered office of the Corporation located at 300 W. College Street, Grand Prairie, Texas 75053
as specified in the Certificate of Formation. 

Section 4. 3 Expenditure of Corporate Money. The proceeds from the investment of

a) The Corporation shall have and shall continually designate a registered
agent at its office, as required by the Act. 

6

864834. 2/ 006569. 000001
0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4830- 9426- 5276. v3

28

Item 1.



Exhibit B

Section 5. 2 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the same as the
fiscal year of the City. 

Section 4. 3 Expenditure of Corporate Money. The proceeds from the investment of

a) The Corporation shall have and shall continually designate a registered
agent at its office, as required by the Act. 

Section 5. 2 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the same as the
fiscal year of the City. 

Section 5. 3 Seal. No seal of the Corporation shall be required. 

Section 5. 4 Resignations. Any director or officer may resign at any time. Such

resignation shall be made in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no
time is specified, at the time of its receipt by the president or secretary. The acceptance of

resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective, unless expressly so provided in the
resignation. 

Section 5. 5 Approval or Advice and Consent of the City. To the extent that these

Bylaws refer to any approval by the City or refer to advice and consent by the City, a certified
copy of a resolution, order or motion duly adopted by the City shall evidence such advice and
consent. 

Section 5. 6 Services of City Staff and Officers. To the extent possible, the Corporation
shall utilize the services and the staff employees of the City. All requests for staff time or inquiries
of staff will be requested through the secretary. The Corporation shall pay reasonable
compensation to the City for such services, and the performance of such services shall not
materially interfere with the other duties of such personnel of the City. 

Section 5. 7 Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Employees. 

a) The Corporation is, for the purposes of the Texas Tort Claims Act
Subchapter A, Chapter 101, Texas Civil Practices and Remedies Code), a governmental unit and

its actions are governmental functions. 

b) As provided in Section 303. 037 of the Act, the Corporation shall indemnify
each and every member of the Board, its officers and its employees and each member of the Board

and each employee of the City, to the fullest extent permitted by law, against any and all liability
or expense, including attorneys fees, incurred by any of such persons by reason of any actions or
omissions that may arise out of the sanctions and activities of the Corporation; provided, however, 
that the Corporation may not provide indemnity in any manner if the director, officer, employee, 

7

864834. 2/ 006569. 000001
0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4830- 9426- 5276A

29

Item 1.



Exhibit B

or agent is guilty of negligence or misconduct in relation to the matter. The legal counsel for the
Corporation is authorized to provide a defense for members of the Board, officers, and employees
of the Corporation. 

ARTICLE VI

EFFECTIVE DATE, AMENDMENTS; MISCELLANEOUS

Section 6. 1 Effective Date. These Bylaws shall become effective upon the occurrence

of the following events: 
1) the approval of these Bylaws by the City, which approval may be granted

prior to the creation of the Corporation; and

2) the adoption of the Bylaws by the Board. 

Section 6. 2 Amendments to Certificate of Formation and Bylaws. The Certificate of

Formation of the Corporation and these Bylaws may be amended only in the manner provided in
the Certificate of Formation and the Act. 

Section 6. 3 Interpretation of Bylaws. These Bylaws shall be liberally construed to
effectuate the purposes set forth herein. If any word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section
or other part of these Bylaws, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances, shall ever
be held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of
these Bylaws and the application of such word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section or
other part of these Bylaws to any other person or circumstance shall not be affected thereby. 

Section 6. 4 Termination. Upon the termination of the Corporation after payment of all
obligations of the Corporation, all remaining assets of the Corporation shall be transferred to the
City. 

8

864834. 2/ 006569. 000001
0 16645. 00000 1 \ 4830- 9426- 5276. v3

30

Item 1.



Adoption of Bylaws

We, the undersigned, are all of the initial directors of the Corporation, and we consent to, 

and hereby adopt, the foregoing Bylaws, consisting of eight ( 8) pages, as the Bylaws of this
Corporation. 

Dated: , 2020. 

By: 
Steve Dye

By: 
William A. Hills

By: 
John Lopez

By: 
Greg Giessner

By: 
Susan Sanders

864834. 2/ 006569. 000001
016645. 000001 \ 4830- 9426- 5276. v3

31

Item 1.


	Top
	Item 1.	Adopt Organizational Meeting Minutes of Grand Prairie PFC
	Adopt Organizational
	Grand Prairie PFC - Organizational Meeting Minutes
	RES 5103 08-18-2020

	Bottom

